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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
v. CASENO. §-)3 .23 °\(§-">3 Al
RAFAEL ROCHE and 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)
ALAIN REMY 18 U.S.C. § 982 (Forfeiture)

INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges:

A. INTRODUCTION

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

1. The Medicare Program (“Medicare”) was a federal “health care benefit
program,” as defined by Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), that provided
medical benefits, items, and services (collectively, “services”) to persons age 65 and
older or with certain disabilities (hereinafter, “beneficiaries”).

2. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), an agency
within the United States Department of Health and Human Services, oversaw and
administered Medicare throughout the United States. CMS divided the United
States into geographic regions and contracted with various companies in those
regions to assist in the administration of Medicare. First Coast Service Options, Inc.

(“First Coast”) was responsible for administering Medicare in Florida, by virtue of its

contract with CMS. In particular, First Coast was responsible for receiving....,
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————————processing;-and-paying-Medicare Part A-and-Medicare Part Bclaims thatwere

submitted by Florida-based Medicare providers.

3 Ulysses Acquisitions, Inc. (“Ulysses Acquisitions”) was a Delaware

corporation registered with the Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations.

Its principal places of business were 584 Captain Hendry Drive, Labelle, Hendry
County, Florida; 23150 Fashion Drive, Suite T-240, Estero, Lee County, Florida;
12795 Sunland Court, Tampa, Hillsborough County, Florida; and 16250 La Costa
Drive, Weston, Broward County, Florida.

4, Luis Duluc, who was a resident of Florida, and Margarita Grishkoff,
who was a resident of Florida, were officers, directors, and/or registered agents of
Ulysses Acquisitions.

5. Luis Duluc and Margarita Grishkoff used Ulysses Acquisitions to
purchase clinics including Comprehensive Outpatient Rehabilitation Facilities
("CORFs") for the purposes of falsely and fraudulently billing Medicare for services
that were not provided to Medicare beneficiaries.

6. Renew Therapy Center of Port St. Lucie, LLC (“Renew Therapy”) was
a Florida company doing business at 2727 N. Highway A1A, #601, Indialantic,
Brevard County, Florida, and at 1850 S.E. Port St. Lucie Boulevard, Fort Pierce, St.
Lucie County, Florida. Renew Therapy was a CORF.

7. On or about September 17, 2007, Ulysses Acquisitions purchased
Renew Therapy. Ulysses Acquisitions, Luis Duluc, and Magarita Grishkoff became

officers, directors, and/or registered agents of Renew Therapy.



—————8——On-or-about- September 24,2007 a EMS=855A Medicare Enroftment—————
Application for Renew Therapy was submitted to First Coast identifying Ulysses
Achisitions and Luis Duluc as owners of Renew Therapy.

9. On or about October 4, 2007, Luis Duluc opened a business bank
account for Renew Therapy at Bank of America, Bank of America account number
ending in 6298, and had joint signature authority on this account.

10.  From in or around November 2007 and continuing through in or around
August 2009, Luis Duluc, Margarita Grishkoff, and Ulysses Acquisitions caused
Renew Therapy to submit approximately $10,549,361 in Medicare claims for
reimbursement for CORF services, such claims falsely and fraudulently representing
that CORF services had been prescribed by a doctor and provided to Medicare
beneficiaries.

11.  As a result of such false and fraudulent claims, Medicare made
payments to Renew Therapy in the approximate amount of $6,248,056, deposited
into Renew Therapy’s business bank account, Bank of America account number
ending in 6298.

12.  IRE Diagnostic Center, Inc., (“IRE Diagnostic Center’) was é Florida
corporation with a principal place of business at 1455 N. Treasure Drive, Apt. 4N,
North Miami Village, Miami-Dade County, Florida. It was incorporated on or about
January 4, 2007.

13.  Ariguanabo Investment Group, Inc. (“Ariguanabo Investment Group”)

was a Florida corporation with a principal place of business at 175 Fountainbleau



—Boutevard; Suite 2-G2, Miami, Mtami-Dade County, Florida—{twasincorporatedom
or about January 28, 2009.
14.  Ibiza Future Planning, Inc. (“Ibiza Future Planning”) was a Florida
corporation with a principal place of business at 10550 NW 77 Court, #310, Hialeah
Gardens, Miami-Dade County, Florida. It was incorporated on or about January 28,
2009.
15.  A&R Medical Services of South Florida, Inc. was a Florida corporation
with a principal place of business at 1455 N. Treasure Drive, Apt. 4N, North Bay
Village, Miami-Dade County, Florida. It was incorporated on or about December 5,
2006.

B. DEFENDANTS

16. Defendant RAFAEL ROCHE, a resident of Miami-Déde County, was a
registered agent and president of IRE Diagnostic Center. ROCHE incorporated
Ariguanabo Investment Group and was a registered agent and vice president of
Ariguanabo Investment Group. ROCHE incorporated A&R Medical Services and
was vice president and registered agent of A&R Medical Services.

17.  Defendant ALAIN REMY, a resident of Miami-Dade County,
incorporated IRE Diagnostic Center and was a registered agent and officer or
director of IRE Diagnostic Center. REMY incorporated Ibiza Future Planning and
was a registered agent and president of Ibiza Future Planning. REMY was president

of A&R Medical Services.



18— RAFAELROCHE had signature-authority onabusiness bankaccount
for Ariguanabo Investment Group at Bank of America, Bank of America account
number ending in 2636.

19. RAFAEL ROCHE and ALAIN REMY each had signature authority on a
business bank account for IRE Diagnostic Center at Bank of America, Bank of
America account number ending in 9655.

20.  From in or around August 2008 and continuing through in or around
January 2009, approximately $612,348 from Renew Therapy was deposited into IRE
Diagnostic Center's Bank of America account ending in 9655.

21.  From in or around February 2009 and continuing through in or around
September 2009, approximately $1,234,873 from Renew Therapy was deposited
into Ariguanabo Investment Group’s Bank of America account ending in 2636.

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy To Commit Money Laundering)
{18 U.S.C. § 1956(h))

1. Paragraphs 1 through 21 of this Indictment are realleged and
incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. Beginning in or around September 2007 and continuing through in or
around November 2009 in the Middle District of Florida, and elsewhere, the
defendants,

RAFAEL ROCHE,

and
ALAIN REMY



—did-willfully; that-is; with-the-intent to-further the-objects of the conspiracy,and———————————
knowingly combine, conspire, and agree with each other and with other persons,
known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United
States, that is,

a. to knowingly conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and
- foreign commerce, which financial transaction involved the proceeds of
specified unlawful activity, knowing that the property invoived in the
financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of
unlawful activity, and knowing that the transaction was designed in
whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the
source, the ownership, and the control of the proceeds of specified
unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
1956(a)(1)(B)(i); aﬁd
b. to knowingly engage in a monetary transaction by, through, and to a
financial institution, affecting interstate and foreign commerce, in
criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, such
property having been derived from specified unlawful activity, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957.
It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is health care fraud, in violation

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347.



C-MANNER AND MEANS ——

3. Luis Duluc, Margarita Grishkoff, and their co-conspirators would cause
Ulysses Acquisitions to acquire and maintain control of Renew Therapy.

4. RAFAEL ROCHE and ALAIN REMY would establish corporations with
the State of Florida, including IRE Diagnostic Center and Ariguanabo Investment
Group, and establish and maintain control of business bank accounts in the names
IRE Diagnostic Center, Ariguanabo Investment Group, and others.

5L Luis Duluc, Margarita Grishkoff, and their co-conspirators would cause
Renew Therapy to submit false and fraudulent reimbursement claims to Medicare.

6.  Luis Duluc and his co-conspirators would establish and maintain
control of a business bank account for Renew Therapy into which Medicare would
deposit reimbursements based on fraudulent claims, which reimbursements would
then be transferred and disbursed to themselves and their co-conspirators, including
through deposits into IRE Diagnostic Center’s and Ariguanabo Investment Group’s
bank accounts.

7. RAFAEL ROCHE and ALAIN REMY would disburse and cause the
disbursement of money from IRE Diagnostic Center’'s and Ariguanabo Investment
Group’s bank accounts to themselves and their co-conspirators.

Allin violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

All'in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).



FORFEITURE —

1. The allegations contained above are hereby realleged and
incorporated by reference for the purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 982(a)(1) and 982(a)(7).

2. Upon conviction of the violations alleged in this Indictment, punishable
by imprisonment for more than one year, the defendants,

RAFAEL ROCHE and
ALAIN REMY

shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 982(a)(1) and 982(a)(7), any and all right, title, and interest they may
have in any property, real or personal, involved in such offensés, or any property
traceable to such violation, including, but not limited to, a forfeiture money judgment
of at least $1,847,222, representing the funds involved in or traceable to the money
laundering offense.

3. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or

omission of the defendants:

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

C. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

d. has been substantially diminished in value: or

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be
divided without difficulty,



the United States of America shall-be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property
under the provisions of Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated

by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1).

A TRUE BILL,

FOREPERSON — 77/

ROBERT E. O'NEILL
United States Attorney

By: WK
CHRISTOPHER J. HUNTER
Trial Attorney

Criminal Div

raud Section

BERT A. MOSAKOWSKI
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Economic Crimes Section

T:\_Criminal Cases\R\Roche, Rafael_2013R01030_ch\p_indictment.wpd
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“FILED

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT,

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORID® AT =T BHIT: [
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Ti flrr\ t i Ls\tuA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. CASE NO. &:1%%. % qf%a ol

RAFAEL ROCHE and
ALAIN REMY

The Motion to Seal Indictment and Related Documents filed by the United
States is hereby GRANTED, and the Clerk of Court is so directed.

The Clerk is further directed to seal the Indictment in this cause except when
necessary to provide certified copies of the Indictment to the United States
Attorney's Office;

It is further ordered that upon verbal request from the United States
Attorney's Office, that the United States Marshals Service is to release a certified
copy of the arrest warrant to the case agent or other appropriate law enforcement
officer and/or to the United States Attorney's Office without further order of the
Court.

It is further ordered that the United States Marshals Service or other

appropriate law enforcement agency may enter the arrest warrant into the




Nationa_l_C.rjm@JDLOLmaiiﬂtLGeuieL(NClC;database—or-othepapBFeﬁﬁ&Ee—Faw——

enforcement database without further order of the Court.

It is further ordered that the United States may disclose the existence of the
Indictment in any search and seizure warrants to be executed in conjunction with the
arrest of the defendant.

The Clerk is further ordered to unseal all documents relating to the Indictment

without any further Order of the Court when the named defendant is taken into

custody.
—

DONE AND ORDERED at Tampa, Florida, this 7 day of May, 2013.

MARK A. PI1ZZO
United States Magistrate Judge

Copy to: Christopher J. Hunter, Trial Attorney
United States Attorney's Office, Tampa, Florida



BOND.RECOMMENDATION: PTD CJH

AO 442 (ReV.5/85) Warrant for Arrest

RS United States District Court
o z: 8} MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
m\%’m -1 _ TAMPA DIVISION

g FLUTT

5.0
wg%ﬁd%&‘\%“rATEs OF AMERICA

WARRANT FOR ARREST

V.

RAFAEL ROCHE CASENUMBER: ¥:)2<e 13 "\T’SB nad

To: The United States Marshal B iﬂ; ' g
and any Authorized United States Officer B@l AN P

YOU ARE HEREBY COMMANDED to arrest RAFAEL ROCHE and bring him forthwith to the nearest
magistrate to answer an
X Indictment O Information O Complaint O Order of Court O Violation Notice O Probation Violation Petition
charging him with conspiracy to commit money laundering.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

Shery!l L. Loesch Clerk, United States District Court
Name & Title of Judicial Officer Title of Issuing Officer

Dy, 0,00/3 Tomyn \H-
Signatufe of Issuing Officer Date@’ Location £

“(By) Deputy Clerk  /

( %/ W, ’f//;? U _ ~ € ﬁ?\%’

Bail fixed at $

Name of Judicial Officer

RETURN

This warrant was received and executed with the arrest of the above-named defendant at

DATE RECEIVED NAME AND TITLE OF ARRESTING SIGNATURE OF ARRESTING OFFICER
OFFICER

DATE OF ARREST COF !

L:\_Criminal Cases\R\Roche, Rafael_2013R01030_ch\f_Warrant for Arrest_ ROCHE wpd



BOND RECOMMENDATION: PTD CJH

AO 442 (Rev.5/85) Warrant for Arrest - *

ReCENES United States District Court

0.5, HARS MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
qaunt -1 PR 2 2:} TAMPA DIVISION
- o1 GRIDE.
jNIm@Em%g%iﬁ AMERIPA WARRANT FOR ARREST
AI;A,N REMY CASE NUMBER: 913 Q.23 0\/\,37) Hed
To: The United States Marshal ﬂmaﬁ

and any Authorized United States Offiger

YOU ARE HEREBY COMMANDED to arrest ALAIN REMY and bring him forthwith to the nearest
magistrate to answer an
® Indictment O Information O Complaint [ Order of Court [ Violation Notice O Probation Violation Petition
charging him with conspiracy to commit money laundering.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

Sheryl L. Loesch Clerk, United States District Court
Name & Title of Judicial Officer Title of Issuing Officer

D, ), D8 TS
Signatuge of Issuing Qfficer Date ?@"Loca‘fion

¢) Deputy Clerk =~ ©

Bail fixed at $

Name of Judicial Officer

RETURN

This warrant was received and executed with the arrest of the above-named defendant at

DATE RECEIVED NAME AND TITLE OF ARRE TIbY SIGNATURE OF ARRESTING OFFICER
OFFICER C< ;

DATE OF ARREST

L:\_Criminal Cases\R\Roche, Rafael_2013R01030_ch\f_Warrant for Arrest_ REMY.wpd



